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How did Michael Frarzese—a capo in fie Colombe crime famiy and one of the richest "made™ men since Copone—leave the Mob and teke up with the Feds, then live
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happily ever after in Hollyweod? They made him an offer he couldn't refuse Fredric Dannen reports.

&Y FIEDRIC DANNEN

is parents wanted him to be a doctor, 50 he dutifully enrolled at a lotal colege on Long
Eland and majored in biology. Michael Franzese was expected to do well. The oaly time his
father ever hit him was upon being told —falsely—that the boy's A average in Catholic school
had slipped. But he dropped out of college midway through his stadies, and seon after that, Franzese

paid a call on his father to anaounce that he was being drawn into the old man’s profession.

Their meeting plice, the federal peaitentiary at Leavenworth, wa & reminder of where that

profession could lead. John “Sonny” Franzese, 1 capcregime in the Colombo crime family, had gotten
fifty vears in a bank-robbery case. Sonny was a shark-eyed, bull-necked hoodlum who looked like
John Garficld in Body and Soul; a kgendary enforcer given credit for dozens of murders; a man who
had been tossed out of the U.S. Army as & "psy with p ¢

Sonny was not surprised at the news, Though Michael was an adcpted child, he had raised the boy
from infancy, and, he told his son, ‘T seen that spirit i you.” As lang as Michael was going to be “on
the sireet,” Sonny wanied 10 give him “a proper introduction” to certain of his friends. But first there

was an important matter to cear up.

“Letme ask you 2 question,” Sonny said. “If you had to kill somebody, do you think you could de it?*

Michael thought for a moment. *If the circumstance were right,” he said. “For the right reasons, I'd do

it. Yeah.”
Sonny arranged for Colombo soldier “Joe-Joe" Vitaceo to reach out for his sor, and Michzel Franzese
his formal schoaling in “the lfe
induction into the Mob. Tom DiBello, acting head of the Colombo family, presided over the solemn

ceremony in the back rom of a catering hall in Brooklyn. The Colomba laid out a symbolic gun and

In 1975, at age twenty-four, he was deemed ready for

kaife, murmured in Sicilian, and drew blood from Frenzese's shooting finger. He wes now a “mede”

man.

Within a decade, Franzese had become a caporegime like his father, one of the biggest eamers the
Mobhad seen sirce Capone, and the youngest individual in Fortune magazine's survey of “The 50
Diggest Mafia Bosses.” His far- flung ensemble of businesses included high-rise construction, car
dealerships, a security guards’ unicn, and the production of B-movies. But his biggest scam invalved

selling millions of gallens of bootleg gasoline in several states and robbing federal aad stay

governments of the excise taxes. Franzese’s personal take: an estimated $1 million to 2 milliona

week.

Before too long, howeser, the law caught up with him. By 1085, Franzess wa:
New York and Florida, and athough he had beaten fire cases in the past, thi

federal judge locked him up without bail after hearing evidence of his violent tendencies, including

cl hich he still denies—that he ordered 2 competitor's head bashed in with aball-peen

hammer.

Defeated, Franzese copped a plea to racketeering and conspiracy. He would do ten years at Terminal
Island and pay nearly $15 million ia fines and restitution. It appeared he had come full circle, ending

up like his father.

oday, Michael Franmse, thirty-nine, isa free man, having served aboat a third of his

sentence. He has not paid a nickel of his restitution. He lives ina $2.7 million home in 2
swank Los Angeles neighborhood with his second wife, twenty-seven-year-old Cammy
Garda. a former aerobics instructor who danced in one of his movies. Thev drive a Mereades and a

Porsthe. Franzese gives his occupation as movie producer. He is represented by ICM, a leading talent

agency, which recently sold CBS the rights to a four-hour mini-series about his life, John Travolta and

“Tony Danza were both mentioned is possible leads. The series is now on hold—Frazzese didn't like
the script. But later this year, Harper-Collins will publlish his memoirs, written with best-selling

author Dary Matera.

Why has the federal government been so good to Franzese? He has become that most prizad of
commodities—an informant. Which explains everything, until you look at whom he has given up. To
date, Franzese has pubicly testified against two people—a Jewish booking agent and a black janitor
—neither of them, to be sure,a member of organized crime.
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Lawmen who struggled to bring Franzese to justice are appalled. To them, he has played expert-level

Monopoly with the federal syste d drawn the “Get Out of Jail Free” card. The PB.I. and the

Organized Crime and Rack Section of the Justice Department-representatives ofwhich all

declined to be interviewed on the sabject of Franzese—are protecting him in the apparent hope that

he will provea star witness. ) police and local progecutors in several states

canmot get permission to question him about serious crimes, including unsolved murders. They say

Franzese has pulled off the scam of his life.

“When 1 heard he was cooperating, I laughed,” says Jerry Bernstein, a former BrooMyn-strike-force
lawyer who spent three years pursving Franzese—and then got frozen out of the mobster’s seeret
with Washi “Cooperating, ball. He's the kind of person who does things on his

terms.” Ray Jermyn, who worked side by side with Bernstein, is even more blunt: “He’s making a jerk

out cf the system.”

But even his detractors in law enforcemeat cannot fathom kow Franzese expects to stay alive. His
refusal to join the Federal Witness Protection Program—and then embarking on a high-profile life in
the entertainment business—seems almost suicidal. And coasider this: in a twelve-hour inerview
spaming three days, Franzese frecly identified members of crime families, denounced the Mob in
scatalogical terms, and bragged about having bested Gambino boss Joha Gotti in a business deal. He
promises more of the same in his Such jor Mafia is simply not
tolerated.

Franzese says his sweet but determined wife is the catalyst or his new life-style. As improbable as
that may sound, he does appear almost mesmesized by her. “I myself observed that she has a
Svengali-like hold over him,” says Ray Jecmyn. “In her presence, he's like a lapdog.” (The original
working title of the Franzese memcirs was Quitting the Mob: The Yuppie Don and the Billion-Dollar
Mafia Empire He Gave Up for the Woman He Loved ) Fraxzese further clains thathis wife has
converted him to the born-again.Christian faith, which seems a stretch to people who recall his
reputation for vidousness.

Outmaneuvering the gevernment is second natare to Franzase—be’s made a career of it. Defying the
Mafia is something else. Perhaps he is doing it for hiswife’s sake. But ualess he holds an ace up his

sleeve, organized-crime experts warn, his disrespect for the Mob code is going to get him killed.

(4 F verybody's trving to figure out my angle.”
4

Michael Franzese ks swiling, Despine his reputacion, be has & most-popular-bey-at-schiool chanu. But

at odd moments his gaze tures icy, and oae can picture him ordering an act of brutality. “Don't be
fooled,” warmns Larry lerizzo, a former partner in crime, now a protected witness. “He's a stone-cold

gangster. Never was anything else.”

Framese ( Fran® zeace*) has decli

address not be published. Instead, he has selected as a meeting place the lounge of 2 Beverly Hills
hotel He pulls up to the front entrance behind the wheel of his black Porsche, which has s “Jesus

Saves” fish decal on the rear bood. Thereis no bodyguard. He appears relatively at case, thoughhe

d to be interviewed at his home, and requests tiat his

seats himslf where he can observe the entire room. Franzese is handsome, with high cheekbones, of
about average height, and well muscled, His dark-brown hair is gray arcund the edges and touches his

collar. He dresses easmlly; his trademark is a pair of aviator sunglasses Thovgh he grew up on Long

Island, his baritone voice has faint traces of Brooklyn.

As Franzese explains it, his only “angle” is a desire to put family before Family. He now has thres
children with Cammy: Miqudle, aged five; Amanda, four; and cighteen month-old Michael junior.
Then there are his three older children, who live with his ex-wife n New York Franzese sivs he made

determination for their sake to avoid th all but three of the

te of his father, who has spen
twenty years behind bars. He currently resides at the federal pen in Petersburg, Virginia, and is not

scheduled for release watil 1994, when he will be seventy-five.

“My father went through twenty damn years of aggravation,” Frarzese says. “My mother’s a nervous

wreck, my brothers and sisters are all wrecks. Where & all this hoaor and thisbaloney? You can't

believe in this damn oath when you've got a family to think of. What about them? My mother’s been
alone for seventeen yesrs. Sowhich is the more honorable stand? My father’s position is: This is how
TI've lived all my Efe, and I don’t want anybody 10 ever say that I was a rat or a snitch, s0 I'm gonna die

this way. O.K. I guess Ican relate to that. But I'm in a differsnt position. I'm thi h years

old. T've gat six childres, Pvegot a young wife. And 'l be damned if I'm gonna put them through what

my family had to go through. Espedially for something I no longer believe in.

“When I first gotinto the life, I had a very idealistic view," be continues. “M
anything he was part of had o be the greatest thing i the world. And when Tom DiBello sat me down

father was my ido), and

and described the life, it sounded great. It was a group of men, there was honer, you had friends all
overthe world. And justice and fair play was the standard. A guy can get killed becase he's in the
drug business. Aguy can get killed if he messes arourd with somebody’s wife. To me, what I feitto be
honerable things.*

Now he professes to feel otherwise. “The Mob is no geod, it’s full of shit, it's a money-hungry
operxtion, and it's not something that should be idolized. I've seea guys afraid to walk into &
meeting—they may notcome out. I've heard guys complaining that every time they turn around,
bullshit. And if

somebody’s grabbing money off of them. This is not how it was supposed to ba. It'

admitting that is gonna cause me a problem, then so be it.”
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Becaase he was such a spectacular earner, Franzese sayx, he needed to proclaim publicly that he had
quit the Mob or every wiseguy in creation would be kaockirg at his door. And that, he insists, isthe
main reascn he agreed to testify for the gavernment—not so that he could get sprung from jail. “Show
me one guy that ever gt on the witness stand who is now running around with the Mob. This was my
way of making a staterxent that I'm out. However, I gotta say, I would rather walk oat this door and
et killed than have anybody think I'm a coward, or that I ratted out everybody and ran into the

witness program. I couldn’t live with that.”

ina Franzese sees things differently. Learning that her soa had turned informant was a
r terrible blow to her. It seemed to invalidate dl that she had suffered for, her long, lonely vigil

for Sonny. The past two decades have been full of hardship. Her money has run out, and she
fears losing her home. A few years ago, she was arrested for cradit-card fraud. In 1974 a Colombo
soldier named Carmine Scialo, whe, it was ramored, dad been attentive toward her, was found buried
in a cellar with a garrote around his neck and his genitals stuffed in his mouth—an spparent signal of

Sonm’s displeasure.

“My huzband and I have been on different wavelengths for rears,” she says, “but I respecthim
thoroughly. He's a grest man. He has the kind of thecrics and moralities that we coeld us< today. *

Tina receives her visitor at the kitchen table of her immaculate home in Roslyn, where Michael grew
up. The white stuceo walls are covered with mirrors; the fumiture is medern. Still lovely at fifty-six,
Tinawears a black ribbon in her heney-blond hair, speaks in a soft voice made husky by cigarettes,

and scema frequently on the verge of tears.

“I don't respect Michae for what he's done,” she says, “When you went to school and someone threw
a paper and the teacher asked, ‘Who threw it?’ how many raised their hands and said, ‘Hedid it?
That's not the way we were brought up. Why do that to people that didn't hurt you? I can love him till
I die, but 1can't forgive him. Because it's too huge. I'm hurting every day. He could have hung on in
jail another two years and then chose whatever he wanted © do—but no witness stand. And then I
would still have my son.”

It pains Franzese that kis mother has cursed him for urning informant. Sonny’s opmion of his son’s
heresy is not known. The elder Franzese has epitomized the good soldier and “stand-up guy,”
determined to walk out of prison ramrod straight. He plays racquet-ball with other nmates several
hours everr day—and generally wins. At seventr-one he looks no older than fifty. “The guy could
probubly take on ten of us,” says a pollce detective. One suspects that Soany ks none o proud of
Michael, with whom he has not spcken since 1685. There was even a stary circulating for 2 while that
he had a cantract on his son. *1 laughed it off,” Michael says quietly.

He also frees about being lumped in with famous stool pigeons like Joe Valachi, Jimmy “the Weasel”
Fratianno, and Henry Hill, all of whom jcined the witness program. Hill is the subject of the best-
selling biography Wiseguy and the recent hit filn GoodFellzs, which has won praise as an accurate
depiction of the Mob's depravity. Franzese says he “got sick” watching GoodFellas, because of the
violence. “If you couldn’t walk out of ther= and say, “These guys are fucking animals,’ there had to be
something wrong with you.” But he was glad that Heary Hil was not made a hero; © Franzese, he was
“alowlife” for giving up Lucchese boss Paul Vario. “Paulie treated this kid real good.”

ne will never confuse Michael Franzese and Henry Hill in terms of their usefulness to the

federal government. Hill not only testified against Vario but helped nail mobster Jimuy

Burke cn murder charges. And Hill was a low-level soldier, not even a made man, Frarzese
is the highest-razking Mafia apostate of the past decade. Federal law enforeers seem to go limp at the

prospect of ensnaring 2 “T.E.” or “iop echelon” informant.

It appears that Franzese exploited the allure of his name to negotiate an unprecedented one-year

o 2 with the g Signed on May 18, 1080, ¥ compels Franzess to
cooperate only in cases filed through April 30, :990. Upon setting his name to the document,

Franese was let out of prison. “I've never heard of anything like that being dane,” says one state

P Henry Hills ag to be sure, has no expiration date.

It probably didn’t hurt that two months before Franzese signed the agreement he helped the U.S.
Attomey’s Officein Chicago win a racketeering case against Norby Walters, a former nightclub owner
and 1 longtime friend of Sonny’s. (As a boy, Michael knew him as“Uncle Norby.”) Over the years,
Waltsrs had built a New York booking ageney for black pop stars that was secand to none—clients
included Dionne Warwick and Kool & the Gang. In 1085, Walters sought entrée into the sports-agency
business, with $50,000 in seed money from Michael Franzese, ddivered in cash in a brown paper
bag.

Franzese’s testimony, however, had more to dowith extortion charges involving Michael Jackson and
his brothers. In 1981, Walters had made 2 bid to handle thebookings foc the Jacksons’ national
concert tour. Unfortunately, Ron Weisner, at the time one of the group’s co-managers, wasn't keen on
him. Franzese testifiad that, st Wakers's request, he flew to Los Angeles for a rit-down with Weisner:

“T explained to him that, if Norby wasn’t mvolved in the tour in same manner, there might not be a

tour.”

"It was threatening.” Weisner assured the jurors. As it turned out, a watchful LA.P.D. picked upon
Franzese’s activitica and persuaded Weianer to hang tough. Aa a safety measure, Weianer kept tho
Jacksons away from the Nassau Coliseumn, on Long Idand - Franaese’s backyard —aad Walters never
did get a piece of the tour. (Walters was sentenced to five years for racketeering, and his former
partner and co-defendant, Lloyd Rloom, 1o three. Rutlast September a federal appeals court
overnurned the convictions of both men on the grounds that the judge gave faslty instructions to the
jury and that Bloom should have been granted a separate trial.)

Franzese's only cther appearance in open court thus far has been to point a finger a1 a janitor, Ornge
Tutt, who worked for Frank Campiane, Sonny Franzess’s ex-driver. As hick would have it, Tutt’s

“girlfriend fiancée” saton a 184 grand jury investigating Michael Franzese. For $1,000, Tutt leaked
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him information about the probe. Last summer, a federal court in Unioadale, Long [sland, convicted

Tutt of obstruction of justice.,

Chances are good that Franzese will testify at least once more, against real-estate developer Gerald
Guterman, indicted last yoar on charges that he conoired with usion officials and Mob cuntractors to

defraud the LR.S, Guterman is perhaps best remembered as the man who chartered the Queen
Elizobeth 2 in 1986 to throw a Bar and Bis Mitzvah czlebration for a s0a and two dzughters. He

allogndly used Fransess to buy labor peace and provide Mob protection for werk doas on apartment
complexes in New York and New Jersey. Franzese says the general-contracting company he formed

with Guterman was among his most lucrative ventures.

Still, Guterman qualifies as a white-collar defendant; Franzase has yet to testify agamst a member of
organized crime, Ho received a summona to appear at the extortion-and-labor racketeering trial of
New Jersey Mafiz boss JJohn Riggi, but never made itto the stand. “They had me on the witness list,”
Frantese recalls. “I said, ‘Fine, put me on—but 'm gonna conflict with your main winess. ” Special
Assistant U.S. Atorney Brian Gillet, whowon a convistion agains: Riggi all the same, won't comment

on why Franzese was not calld.

“He's picking and choosing who he's gonna testify against, which to me is reprehensible,” says Kay

Jermyn, the rackets chief of the Suffolk County D.A.’s office. Recently, Jermyn subpoenaed Franzese

to appear before a Suffolk grand jury in a Mob loan-sharking case. After he faded toshow up, Jermyn
hit him with an arrest warrant. It proved an empty gesture. When Jermyn asked some LAP.D.
officers to take down Franzese's license-plate namber and get his address—a routine procedure—their

offorts wers quashed by the F.B.1 “The Fids ars running interference for the guy,” Jermyn grouses.

Franzese seems to think his clipperiness as a witness has made him a less likely target for the Mob.
Sure, he says, someone could justify a contract on him merely for testifying. “But I think people
measure things more on, Is he a threat tome? And maybe the point is becoming clearer that I'm not
gonra be abig atar witness.” Eapecially, ho ndds, after the Rigsi ease.

He doesn'tdeny that his life is at risk. But so what? “It's not new to me to have the feeling that, hey,
today, tomorrow, somebody may tzke a shot at me. [ understood that when [ was inthe life. Why

should it be any different now that I'm out of it? But I make provision. I'd like to think that I'm pretty
astuto and know what's going on around me. If siomebody’s gonna got e, they're genna have to work

atit.I'm not walking around with my head up my ass”

ammy Franzes: has just arrived from adance class; her current goal in life  to become a
choreographer. On her necklace are a figurins of a dancer and 2 crucifix. Sha wears a
tightfitting green bloase, a black skirt, and cowboy L s, and is al no

more the image of an anorexic ballering than she is a classic Mafia wife,

As she takes a seat beside her husband, he warms perceptibly. Thanks to Cammy, Franzese was
baptized ina wading pool at their ciurchabout a year ago—a decade and a half after his isduction
into the Cosa Nostra. His pastor advised 2im that to be a Christiaa it wzs necessary only to believe,
But Franzese dismissed that 1s “too easy,” and the immersion appealed to his feeling for ritual. T

salid, Wait 2 minute, this is samething I can relece 10. Like, 20w I'm pari of something.”

Cammy’s first words upon sitting down are “Geod had a plan for Michael.” Unfortunately, the thought

seems 1o have crossed der mind lately that maybe God’s plan does not correspond with her own,

“I)ust worry about him,” she ays. “Some days my faith is 8o strong, [ know, God, yeu're gonna ke
care of my husband. But then, the other day, we saw this relarded film, GoodFellas., I was in the
ladies’ room and I had tears in my eyes. It really frightened me. Could that happen to Michael?"

Franzese pats a reassuring hand on her arm. “Idon't believe I'm meantto go down in a hail of

bullets,” he says. “I think I have a good grasp on my relatiozship with God. . . *

“1 dosense he’s aware of what's going on around him,” she tells herself. “Well go to a restaurant and
hell say, TN it bere

and yousit there.” And I'll notice him looking around the room ™ She turns to her
husband. “Every day, Ialways tell you, ‘Please be careful.’ But is it ever gonnaend? Will we be able to
live cur life somewhat sormal? It gets to you. When Icame out of that movie theater, I was upset with
him. My God. was he ever a part of that lifestyle? No. T wonld never see him being so mean and

vicions as the men of that movie,” Franzese shakes his head.

A college dropout, Camille Garcia was twenty-one when she married Franzese in a hasty ceremcny at

the chapel of the Circus Circus casino in Las Vegas. Itwas January 1085, and he had just been

indicted in a loan-sharking case that wonld end in acquittal—his Ixst such victory. There was a lot
about his 1fe that Cammy didn't apprecizste at the time, butit began to sink in after Vincent “Jimmy™
Rotondo, ber husband's co-defendant, was blown away by gunfire a few yearslater,

“I couldn’t believe it,” she says. “In front of his kouse! In his car! They killed him! 1 used to watch The
Godfather These men were interesting —tall, dark, and handsome. They walked into a room and
people respected them. [ liked it, but I thought it was fiction. When I realized it wastrue, it hit me:
Thisis terribler”

rowing np, Michael Franzese himself was kept in the dark about a lot of things, including any
" information about his supposed real father. When he was born, on May 27, 1951, his mother,

Christine “Tira" Capobianco, the daughter of a transit worker, was married to ore Frank
Grillo. He disappeared after Sonny arrived on the scene. Setting a pattern that Michael would victually
duplicate, Sonny came with three children from a previous marriage, then had three more with Tina,
putting Michael in the middle. In 1961 the family moved from New Hyde Park to a two-story Colonial
houss in Roslyn, Long [sland, where the future gangster grew up as Michael Grillo, antil be turned
cighteen and Sormy adopted him. But Michael always saw himself as a Franzese, and to this day
believes it possible that Sonny is hiz natural father after all.
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Born in Naples in 1919, Sonny Franzese seemed destined for the Mob, (His father, Carmine, knownas
Tuttiethe Lion, was a man of noted brutality whoran a bakery shop in Bresklyn and was legendary
for stuffing adversaries in the oven.) As a young man, Sonny was arrested : dozea times for crimes

including felonious assault and rape, but was convicted only of minor gambling offenses.

Sonny latched onto what was then the Profaci family and worked his way tp as an enforcer. A shade
over five ¢ight, he was crew-cut, cragsy, menacing, and, unlike most other mafiosi, abstemious. Also
cheap. “He had a reputation for being very tight with a buck,” recalls former F.B.L. agent Bernie
Welsh. “An informant told me that one time Sonny supposedly went into @ $. Kiein's department

store in Hempstead and stole the Christmas tree. And bragged about it.”

Officially, Scany owned a dry deaner’s in Brooklyn. Unofficially, he was becomirg the reignisg
gangster of Long Isdand, with an interest in restaurants, clubs, topless bars, and several record labels,
Sonny's livellhood was never discussed In the Franzese home. The Colomlo soldiers who frequently
dropped in were all “uncles” to Michzel. But he felt the effects of the life during the Gallo-Profaci war
of 1061 through 1063. “Crazy Joe™ Gallo and his two brothers were attempting to wrest contral of the
family from Joseph Profaci; for two years, it rained bullets, and Sonsy never ventured outside without
a bodyguard

The war proved fortunate for Sonny. He remained a neutral party, trusted by both sides, and won the
favor of Joe Colombo, who became head of the family in 1063. On Christms Eve of 1963, Newsday
bli Bob Greene's breaking profile of Sonny Franzese, “The Hood in Our Neighborhood.”

Greene asserted that the aging Joe Colombe was “gradually paving the way for Franzese to take over
completely. .. . The Cosa Nostra accepts him as a coming king ™ Sonay said nothing abeut the article,
but after it appeared, the Franzeses' English maid, Pauline, sat Michael down and explzined 1o him

that his father wasa member of organized crime.

He felt no shame at the news: “By this time [ viewed the govemment as the enemy., We had cops
sitting outside our house and following us in helicopters.” Once, when he vas sixteen aad “ina
mood,” Michael got into his father’s car and led some palice detectives on 1 high-speed chase, for
which he was neariy arrested. Sonny was livid. “Do you think this is a game>* he asked Michael.
“Ihese guys are treacherous.” Another time, Michael recalls, two polcemen followed Sonny and
fanlly o @ local davr and busan w harss him s e wble, Sonny lost s wmper, and one of die
officers gestured toward his holster. “Go for your gun—1want you to,” Somy sai, glowering. “You

seen the copwas scared stiff,” Michael says.

Sonny held court at two famous nightclubs, the C b in b d the San Su Saa on

Long laland. Artists such as Sammy Davis Jr., Bobby Darin, and —one of Senny’s pereosal favorites
Tiny Tim convened at his table,

But Sanny’s public appearances would soon drawto an end. It had becomea high priority forJ. Edgar
Hoover’s F.B.L to get him off the street. The reascns for this remain obscwe; Hoover seemed far more
interested in Red-baiting than in the Mafia, whose very existence he denied. Tina Franzese cliims that
federal agents bugged the hous: in Roslyn—even the badroom. In the midsixties Sonny was hit with

four indictments, all based on the testimony of four “skels” who had paid ribute to him from the

proceeds of their patty crimes. Two state cases involving theft ended in accuittal. He was also cleared
in the murder of Emie “the Hank” Rupoli, 2 Mob hit man whase corpse—sot, stabbed, and weighted
with cement blocks—had washed ashore ona Long Island beach.

But Sanny was comvicted on federal charges that he conspired with the skedls to rob banks. Irenically,
it was perhaps the weakest of the four cases and may have been a frame. Ax F.B.1 agent who requests
anonymity thinks it more likely that Sonny learned of the robberies after the factand merely
demazded his “whackup.” In 1967, he was sentenced to two consecutive tventy-five-year terms. He
remained free on bail for three years as the proceas of appeal dragged on, tut in 1970, Sonny was
shipped to Leavenworth to begin senving his time.

A few months later, Michael Franzese, thena freshman at Hofstra University, got a phone call froma
former member of Sonny’s crew. Joe Colombo's son had been arrested, and Colombo senior was

forming a new organization, the Ttalian-American Civil Rights League, to protast persecution. The

boss planned a rally in front of F.B.1. headquarters on Third Avenue.

Michae] joined the thousands-strong picketline with a sign that read: I AN A VICTIM OF F.B.I.
GESTAPO TACTICS. MY FATHER WAS FRAMED FOR 50 YEARS. In thecourse of the rally, he had

wordswith a policeman. “He pushed me, and I hit him,” Franese recalls, ‘and then all hell broke
loose.” Franzese says he was beaten, cuffed, throwvm into a paddy wagon, aid charged with assaulting
an officer. Joe Colombo arranged for noted Mob lawyer Barry Slotnick to cefend him. He pleaded
Zuilty to disorderly conduct and was fined $250.

It wason the picket line in front of F.B.1 headquarters that Michael Franzise was drawn into the life
of crime. The wiseguys took a liking to him. He had the Franzese name, and, he adds, “they could see I

was a hustler.”

Now 13 his early twenties, he found himselfin a crew of men considerably yider than he. Some were
hulking giams, like “the Chubby Brothers”~Johnand Robert Verrastro, bath more thaa three
hundred pounds—and Phillie Vizzari, a Colombo soldier who had reportedto Sonny. Their base of

operaton was an sutomoblle-leasing outlet on Loag Island that belonged » & man named Tooy
Morano. Nassau County detectives suocceeded in making an informant of Norano, whohad a
gambling habit and was in Dutch with Colombo loan sharks. He was fittedwith a body mike. Soon

after that, Franzese's partners suspected that Momno was ing from th d, o
Franzese, threatenad to kill him. Believing their informant’s life was in darger, police burst in—one of

them zimed a shotgun at Franzese’s head—and amrested the entire crew. Sill in college, Franzese

faced jour indi , on charges of conspiracy, grand larceny, p ios of stelen property,

coercion, and extortion.

The czses were weak, and Morino damaged them further with an unhelpfu performance on the
witness stand. “T think he had a change of heart,” Franzese suggests. Two ases ended In acquittal, one

was settled with a fine, and the fourth was dismissed after three hung juries. But the process dragged
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on for two years, at the end of which Franzese was broke, usemployed, and no longer in college. By

then, he had only one ambition: to make money with a vengeance.

It was 1974, and the Cclombe family had decided to “open the books” and make new members for the
firot time in two decadeo. To become a made man, Michacl would need to scrve a year’s internobip,
One of his jobe was chauffeuring Tem DiBello, who was acting as surrogate den while the true head of
the family, Carmine “Junior” Persico, awaited release from jail. “I went around and met everybedy
from the difforent families, and learnoed what this lifo was all about,” Franzese says. “And 1 was
available at all times. They said, “You might get called tonight, you might get called 2 year from zow." 1

said 0.K." Called for what? “In case any act of violence had to be done.”

Franzese knows th ion has taken a dang tum; his plea agreement dees not grant him
immunity for murder. Over the years, his name has been mentioned in connestion with several

killings, among them the 1983 gang-landstyle slaying of Lawrence “Champagne Larry” Carrozza. A

former member of Franzeses crew, Carrazza isbelieved to have “dishonored” one of Michael's sisters.

Franzese vehemently danies involvement in Carrozza's death. Butisn't it true, he is asked, that in
order to be made you have to kill somebody?

“Yeah, thatia the rule,” he says. But “they were making a 101 of guya, and there's only 30 many people

to kil. With guys like me, because my father was who he was, I guess they feltit was in the blood. So
there was 3 couple of us that were told, You're gonna be made, and when the time comes, if you have

to do something, you gotta be ready.”
But  never happened?

Franvese pauses for a long instant.
“Notat that time.” he says.

round the time of his industion, Franzsse married a neighborhood girl, Maria Corrao, They

moved to Comma , advanced to

k, Long Island, and, after Franzese began to make his fortund

a millior-dollar marsion ia Brookville, New York, complete with an indoor racquet-ball

court. Their first child, a daughter, was born in 1076,

In late 1078, Sonny Franzese was paroled, after serving only eight yearsof hishalf-century term.

(Thece have long been ramors of bribery~the F.B.L even investigated a member of the parole

commission—but nothing was ever proved.) Michael was now placed under the elder Franzese; he
wounl run Sonny's operations and shield him from open involvement with convieted felons, which

could lead to his parole being revoked.

Soon after he became an acting captain for his father, Franzese found himselfat odds with a man who
held the same title within the Gambino family, a rising star named John Gotti. According to Franzese,
an associate was rinniag a Lang Tsland flsa market. and he asked Franaese to chase off a partner who
was dealing drugs on the side. Franzese, who had an interest in the operation, did so, only to be told
that the drug dealer had ties 10 Gotti. He reportedly shot back, “Fack John Gotti,”

According to Mob Star, a recent biography of Gotti, Franzese was summoned to the Our Friends
Social Club in Queens 1o disenss the problem: be left shakily after gettirg a taste of Gotti's confident

terrcrism:

As Franzess rose to lesve, Gotti told him: “There is a guy running around the city saying, ‘Puck John
Gotti’ What do we do with a picce of shitlike that? Should ve beat himup? Kill him? He's a dog.
right?”

“Yes, anybody who said that wouldn't be 2 friend, they would be adog, " Franzese replied.

otquite, says Franzese. “I'd like to think I was intelligent enough notto walk around ard say,

“Fuck this guy'—especially because John was a good fella. And there’s no way in God’s

creation I'd have satat a table azd let anybody talk to me like that. Jenior [Persico] woald
havesaid, ‘Are you out of your mind?’ Did Gotti try to show his muscle and make yeu think he was
more important than you? That was John's style. He would want you to believe thathe was more
powerful than any boas that ever lived, even at that atage of hia life. When Jokn talls, hia voice is
naturally an octave above everybody else’s. He's got atremendous ego.” The upshot of the meeting,
Franzese adds, was that he persuaded Gotti to buy out his interest in the flea market for about

$70,000. “And three or four months Iater,” he says with a smile, it collapred ”

Franzese soon became involved with another famous New Yorker, the Reveread Al Sharpton, the

civil rights activist. Franzese met Sharpton threugh mutual acquaintanses in the record industry,

where the reverend is jous for ive fund-rising, Sh won a j jobasa

community-relations director for the Jacksons' 1984 Victory Tour, allegedly by threatening to

organizo n boycott of the consorts if the black ity v roaning Shary was kopt
“off the gravy train.” He and three associates were paxd more than half 2 million dollars for their
services—an impeessive score, considering that Franzese’s earlier efforts to shake down the Jacksons

had come 1o naught. (Sharpton claims that his out-of pocket expenses on the tour exceeded hia pay.)

Franzese says thet Sharpton offered to amist inanother shakedovm schsme in 1984. The mobater had
correpted Allied Intermational, a large union of security guards, and he hoped to persuade the gaards
at Atlantic City hotels to become members. “Sharpton seen dollar signs through me.” Franzese says.

“He came up to me in Norby Walter’s office and says, ‘Michael, let me belp you. Il go down to the
hotels and tell them the guards are black, and if they don't join the unica, I'll have ten busloads of five
thousand niggers in front of the hotels every day.” ™ Franzese liked the plan, bat before it could be
impl d, the union d Daniel Cunningh. was indieted for racketeering. "That's
absolutely ludicrous,” Sharpton says when asked about Fraazese's account. “1offer 1o help and 1

didn't ask anything in it for me?”
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Although Michael was running interference for his father, Sonny began to dip info familiar ways,
mingling with other convicted mafiosi at a dub in Brookyn. In 1082 he wa caught, and a federal
judge sent him back to prison.

With Sonny Franzese in jail, Michael was scon elevated officially to captais, the Mafia's equivalent of
senior vice president. His crew included Frank Cestaro, knows as “Frankie Body Shop,” to signify his
day job, and two alleged enforcers, Louis Fenza arnd Frank Castagnaro, or ‘Frankie G.” The Gstood
for gangster, Castagnaro was a big man with a shart temper: among other hings, he allagedly
bludgeoned an auto dealer with a telephone and advised a bankruptey trugee who tried to evict him

that his car would be blown up.

In the Mob, there is no faster ticket to stardom than to be seen as an “earmer,” and Michael Franzese
was about toset new records. His secret was the magic of his father’s name combined with superior
Intellect. He collaborated with several white-collar criminals o defraud coporations, but for his
biggest scam Franzese teamed up with Lawrence lorizzo, head of Vantage Petroleum, alarge chain of
unbranded gas stations ca Long Island andin New Jersey. A career con mun, lorizzo had attracted
the attention of two West Coast wiseguys who wanted to seize contral of his business. Torizzo had
turned to Sonny for help. The two wiseguys backed off, and in 1981, Micha:l Fraxzese became a silent
partner in Vantage. The company’s assets were bled dry so that he and Iorizzo could form a new
outfit, Galleon Holdings. Within a few vears, Galleon comprised hundredsof stations, storage
terminals, and fleets of tankers, and sold millions of gallons of gasoline in New York, Florida, and
New Jersey.

Larry [orizzo stood more than six feet tall and weighed dose to five hundnd pounds. Itwas siid he
could consume nie pizzis at ameal. He was also a bigamist with two Long Island homes—one for
each wife. “Trake my hatoff to him,” Franzese says. “Huge as he wax he moved around " loritzo
played fast and locse with the Internal Revenue Service as wel. Gasoline wholesalers are supposed to
pay state and federal excise taxss, but loriz set up a deisy chain of dummny companies to pass along
the tax bill uatil it ended up at a “buraout” company—one that went bust right before LR.S. agents
showed up at the door. After each baskruptcy, a new daisy chein was formsd. To further confound the

tax man, sonse of the dummy companies were incorporated in Pa a, wlere Jocizzo boasted a

residence, a phony passport, and, he claimed, a friendly rapport with Presilent Manuel Noriega.

Because Galleon paid notaxes, it wasable to undersell the ition; soon, even brand fillng
stations like Texaco and Chevron and Shell were welcoming Galleon tankers—after dark. Toritzo

claims that Franzese drew as much as $100 millica from the operation.

Franzese lied to run the staticas and fond off i “dl the muscle we needed,”

lorizzo says over the phone, lorizzo and Franzese have been none tos friendly since the former joined
the witness program in 1984 and set in motion the events leading to Franzase’s downfall. “He was
always threatening people and throwing his weight around,” Torizzo asserts. “If it werea't for his
father, who was a real old gangster and tough son of a bitch, Michael would have been hunted down

like a dog and whipped.”

Yet Torizzo is the first to admit that Franzese took a number of “brilliant”™ steps to expand the

operation. The most important was his decision in 1083 bi ith akey 3

Michael kowitz, a member of th lled Eastern Bloc Mafia, who operated & gas scam similar to
lorizzo's. Markowsz seemed intimidated by Franzese, and agreed to the snaller end ofa 75-25 split.
(In 1089, with Franzese long out of the picture, Markowitz was shot dead tehind the wheel of his

silver-and-maroon Rolls-Royee. The murder hasn't been solved.)

Franzese and lorizzo spent their profits Lavishly. “We had yachts, wehad jet planes,” locizzo recalls,

They dso bought a $350.000 mobile home in Florida, where the gas business wes booming. it was

there, in 1983, that Franzese founded Miami Gold, a ie-production company that laundered some
of Galleon’s profits, though its original purpose was o expand the Colomb) family’s presence in the
film industry. Frarzese bad already dabbled in the screen trade as an execttive producer of

L 3o shock

ak 1f-defrock

featuring

bug, Franzese put np money for several more pictures, including Savage Sreets, starriag B-movie

d mirister Marjoe Gortrer. Bitten by the filn

goddess Linda Blar. Miami Gald's first and only production was Knights of the City, a teen-gang
musical. To commemorate the launch of the movie company, Miami Beacl gave Franzese the keys o
the city and, in an act of excrucating irony, made him aa honerary police commissioner.

Knights proved a disaster at the box office, but Franzese would never regret making the picture. For
the break-dancing finale, the director flew in a California troupe called Darce Machine, featuring
nineteen-year-old Cammy Garcia. She made an instant impression on her future husband. “Iwas
sitting by the pool with Frankie Body Shop, and T seen Cammy,” he recalls. “And she caaght my eve.
But I said, "Frankie, you know what? [ gotta stay away from that kid. That nnocent look in her—she'd
be trouble.”

Franzese's whirlwind of activities had not gone unnoticed by law enforcement, but the boom landed
first oa Torizzo, who in 1084 was convicted of mail and wire fraud and intestate transportation of
stolen property. As lorizmo awaited sentencing, Prangese grew nervous. 1 vas coming to grips with
the fact that, look, the guy’s five hundred pounds—he just coukdn’t do jail time. Plus, he was weak.”
So, Franzese says, he encouraged Iorizzo tofly to Panama with his phony jassport. Nothing more. But
a9 lorizzo tells the story, the mabster was a bit mere hoovy-handed: “Theytock my son to Franzese’s

office. And Franzese told my son, “If your father don’t do the right thing, we're geana kill you."

lorizzo did travel to Panama City, on his private jet. Buthis stay wascut short when two unidentified

locals kidnapped him at gunpoint and put him ona plane to Miami. He arived into the welcaming

arms of F.B.1. agent Dan Lyons. lorizzo claims he has no idea who kidnaprad him or why. “Things

happen strasge in Panama,” he conclades,

Franzese, newly married to Cammy, was soon hit with indictments from the state of Florida and the
Brooklyn strike force, based heavily on Iorizo's grandjury testimony. Frarzese sarrendered i Miami,
but then federal agents beought him up to New York to face felony chargesalong with eight members

of his erew, including Frankie Body Shop, Frankie d Louis Fenza.
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Prosecutors gave evidence that Franzese was a threat to society. They chimed that he had arranged
for a competitor in the auto-kasing business to be hitover the head with a hammer, and varned a

ial Commercial C ployee who was pressuring him to repay a loan to back off or
Franzese would “cut his heart out.” It was also disclosed that Sonay Franzese’s no-nonsense parole

officer, Jim Stein, had received an anonymous death threat over the phone only two days after Sonny
was ordered back to jail and Michael had confronted Stein outside the courtroom. “We were nose to
nose,” Stein recalls today. “And he nsed cortain profanities—'scunbag,” prick.” and fucking G-man”
to axpress hiz feelings toward ma,” Shorty bafora Christmaz of 1085, Franzass wag remanded without
bail,

Behind bars for the first time, Franzese began to assess his chances, and they did not look good. He
explained to Cammy that if hs went to trial andlost he could be sent up for atleast twenty years. In
March 1986, Franzese strucka plea bargain: he would accept a tea-year term in the Brooklyn case and
ninein the Florida case, to run coneurrertly. He would pay 84.7 million in civil penaltics by

liquidating a number of properties, including the howse in kville bdongieg to his first wife,
Maria. The U.S. government would also acquire the rights to Knights of the City.

In addition, Franzese agreed to pay $10 million in restitution. He propesed to raise part of the money
by making a sousdtrack-album deal for Arights and setting up a luxury-car leasing operation in
Hermosa Beach, which Cammy woald learn 1o run. In order to perform these tasks, Franzese
suggested that he be let out of jail for the three months befcre his sentencing and kept under
surveillance in a condo on Wilshire Boulevard in Los Angeles. Naturally, he would pay the expenses of
the U.S. marshals guarding him. Flush with victory in the piea bargain, the Brooklyn strike force
consented to the plan.

It would prove an embarrassment. The NBC News team of Brian Ross and Ira Silverman kad been

Franzese’s in the They filmed him cruising around Los Angeles in
his Cadillac Eldocado, with the marshals trailing behind. At one point, the marshals drove off for
lunch and Jeft Franzese unattended for fiteen minutes. When this footage appeared on the evening
news, "1 got a sinking feeling,” Franzese says. His fate was scaled when it was also learmed that he had
given the marshals $8,000 in bad checks. Franzese was sent back to jail.

By early 1987, he was serving his sentence at Terminal Island, a medium-security federal prisonin
San Pedro, California. He found pron life more than bearable—be worked as a clerk and typistin an
air-conditioned cffice and procured a televiston from the athletic deparment.

Shortly before his 5 had beld secret di ions with Brooklyn strike-foree head
Edward MeDonald. A charismatic former basketball plaver, McDonald was the man who had wrung
cooperation from Henry Hill, and be can be seen playing himself in the final minutes of GoodFellas.
MecDonald hoped he could get Franzese to roll ever, but the Colonbo capo insisted he had no desire to
become a government witness.

Then, some months later, F.B.1. agents in Chicgo noted a relatioaship between Franzese and Norby
Waltsrs, who happened to be under investigation. Tn early 1088, Franzese was escorted toa secret
meeting place in [linois for a téte-i-téte with Chicago U.S. attorney Anton “Tony™ Valukas,

Here was aman quite different in tsmperament from the hard-asses in Brooklyn, scmeone Frarzese
could deal with. Valukas explained that if Franzese agreed to testify against Waltershe weuld ask

McDonald to recommend a sentence reduction. Franzese decided to take up Valukas's offer. "By that
point, 1 had made up my mind that I wasout of the life,” hesays.

with testifying. My problem was, I didn't know if I was gonsa like myse.”

“So I didn’t have a moral problem

His willingness to testil

asteunded the Organized Crime ard Racketeering Section of the Justios
Department in Washington, and McDonald was ordered to renew talks with Franzese to try to get him
to sign a cooperation agreement. Franzese didn't like McDenald, and the negotiations dragged an
inconclusively for weels. Then McDonald had an inspiration. “We stuck him in a county jail in some
jerkowater town in rural Minais,” he recalls, laughing. “Here's this major mafioso from New York
getting checked out by all these low-level petty thieves. The next day was whea we negotiated in
earnest.” In May 1989, a month after Norby Walters was foand guilty, Franzese set his name to the

and walked

of jail.

McDonald defends the agreement, arguing that Franzese had as 1ittle as one year left to serve and that
he has put his life in jeopardy. He also predicts that Franzese will be compelled to testify in the so-
called window case, filed shortly before Franzese's agreement expired; Genovese boss Vincent “the
Chin” Gigante and other top echelon mobsters are accused of rigging the bids for the windows ia

public housing projects.

Franzese agrees that he may be asked to testify in the window case. But, he adds slyly, "we'll have to
see what happen:. Ther had the ability to call e in the Riggi cass, and [ never got to the stand. So I

don’t know.”

otsurprisingly, Frarzese and his long-suffering mother have barely spoken sinee he got out
of prisoa. “I enjoy the distance between us,” he zays simply. For a while, Cammy prayed for a

reconcikation. She always got along famously with Sonny, who gave her pasta recipes by
phone from priscn. And when she first mat Tina, “she was as sweet as can be,” Cammy says. But then
word came back that Tina was calling her a “dit-poor Mexican bombshell.” Now she thinks it’s best to
leave Tina alone: “She’s just not a rice person.”

As for Tina, she has a theory about why her son gravitated toward his wife’s born-again evangelism.

"Michael needed to excel,” she says, "and maybe it’s burting him that he couldn’t handle what he
choae. Ho got into trouble right away.”

In other words, be had to embrace religica because he failed as a criminal?

“That's right. He could not cur it. So he has to look for a believable cause. That's my maternal feeling.”

Captured: 26 October 2023, 18:06:28



Page 9
john-gotti-joc-columbo-fbi-investigation-witness | Vanity
https:/ /www.vanityfair.com/news/1991/02/john-gotti-joe -columbo-fbi-investigation-witness

rm in2 Franzese may be struggling to get by, but it appears ber son is doing all right, although he

claims that hix two laxury cars are leased. Ose source familiar with hix house confirms that it

has a market value of $2.7million, and says that Franzes: is quietly purchasing it through a
lease option.

Indeed, if Franzese has outfoxed the crirrinal system, he's made an absolute monkey out of the dvil
division. The government does not appear to have collected much of the $4.7 million he owes in
forteitures: the rights to Knights of the Ciry proved worthless, and Mara Franzese still owns her home
in Brookville. As for Franzese's restitutioa, the LR.S. has received nothing. “He owes me 10 million
bucks—I haven'tgotten a perny,” says an LR.S. agent.

Meanwhile, the money Franzese made inthe beotleg gas scam has never been accounted for.
gone,” he says, “Wheredid 1t go—o0t on 2 date?” says Larry or1z20. Franzese testinzd that he had no
foreign bask accounts, but Icrizzo recalls that “hie would take our private jet, fly to the Cayman

Islands and Eurcpe, and stash morey. It's been well invested and sheltered.” Ray Jermyn has his own

theory. “Keowing his personality, be would have to keep it dose to home. I thi

k it's probably baried

in the ground someplace. Literally. With talcur: powéer onit, to keep it from going bad.”

Franzese seems almost amused by the speculation. Even friends and family, he admits, are sure he is
worth millions, Well, he says, theyll just have to waituntil 1993, when, because of the statute of
limitations, he can no longer be charged with perjury for having testified in 1686 that he had no

hidden assets. “But until that time, I've told the government, 'If you find it, come and get it." *

For zow, Franzese wants to vork al building up his film company, CammyCo Productions, He has a
couple of scripts in development, including a thirty-page treatment he wrote kimse¥, about prison

life. And if the movie basiness doesn't work out, hell find another way © support his family. Bul, he

vows, retuming to crime is not an option. “I'll never get back with these guys,” he says. “I've still got it
in me. I'm still a street guy. I'm leveling with you—there’s times [ get tempted to cross theline. But so

far

haven't. And hopefully, ¥ things work out for me, I never will.”

Fredric Dannen
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